

Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

Technological change and the demand for currency: an analysis with household data

by Francesco Lippi and Alessandro Secchi



The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Patrizio Pagano, Alfonso Rosolia, Ugo Albertazzi, Claudia Biancotti, Giulio Nicoletti, Paolo Pinotti, Enrico Sette, Marco Taboga, Pietro Tommasino, Fabrizio Venditti.

Editorial Assistants: ROBERTO MARANO, NICOLETTA OLIVANTI.

TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE AND THE DEMAND FOR CURRENCY: AN ANALYSIS WITH HOUSEHOLD DATA

by Francesco Lippi* and Alessandro Secchi**

Abstract

Advances in transaction technology allow agents to economize on the cost of cash management. We argue that accounting for the impact of new transaction technologies on currency holding behaviour is important to obtain theoretically consistent estimates of the demand for money. We modify a standard inventory model to study the effect of withdrawal technology on the demand for currency. An empirical specification for households' demand schedule is suggested, in which both the level of currency holdings and the interest rate elasticity of demand depend on the withdrawal technology available to agents (e.g. ATM card ownership or a high/low density of bank branches, ATMs). The theoretical implications are tested using a unique panel of Italian household data (on currency holdings, deposit interest rates, consumption, development of banking services, etc.) for the period 1989-2004.

JEL Classification: E5.

Keywords: money demand, inventory models, technological change.

Contents

1. Introduction	
2. Revisiting previous evidence	5
3. A theoretical framework	
3.1 Example 1: Baumol-Tobin with free withdrawals	
3.2 Example 2: A random matching model	
4. Estimation results	
5. Discussion and related literature	
6. Time series evidence from the 20 th century	
7. Concluding remarks	
Appendix A: Currency and financial development: the data	
Appendix B: Additional evidence	
References	

^{*} University of Sassari, EIEF and CEPR. Email: f.lippi@uniss.it

^{**} Bank of Italy, Economics, Research and International Relations. Email: alessandro.secchi@bancaditalia.it

1 Introduction*

A quantitative assessment of the parameters of the money demand function is important for answering key questions in macroeconomics. Information on the interest elasticity of money demand is helpful in evaluating the distortion induced by inflation upon the holdings of non-interest bearing assets, a centerpiece in the analysis of the welfare costs of inflation (e.g. Bailey, 1956; Lucas, 2000). The income elasticity is crucial in establishing the money growth rate consistent with price stability (Friedman, 1969).

Yet the wide range of empirical results available in the literature may foster skepticism about the stability of money demand and the possibility to provide conclusive answers to those fundamental questions. It is often conjectured that volatile estimates of the parameters of money demand may be due to compositional changes in expenditures and the evolution of financial practices. For instance, Teles and Zhou (2005) show that banking deregulation in the United States blurred the traditional distinction between monetary aggregates (e.g. M1 and M2) since it allowed previously illiquid savings accounts to be used for settling transactions. Some of these institutional complications can be avoided by focusing on currency, whose definition is less controversial. Even currency, however, is affected by advances in payment and withdrawal technologies, e.g. by the diffusion of bank branches, electronic points of sale and the ATM network. Such developments confound the linkage between currency, consumption and interest rates, further challenging the identification of the money demand schedule.

We contribute to this debate by presenting a model that accounts for the effect

^{*}We thank Fernando Alvarez, Giuseppe Bertola, Christian Haefke, Luigi Guiso, Tullio Jappelli, Tom Sargent and Pedro Teles for helpful discussions. We also benefited from the comments of two anonymous referees and of seminar participants at the Banca d'Italia, the Bank of Portugal, the SED 2005 Budapest Meeting, the European University Institute, the University of Turin, Rome II "Tor Vergata", LUISS and the 2005 Vienna Macro Workshop. The views are personal and do not involve the responsibility of the institutions with which we are affiliated.

of developments in the withdrawal technology on the demand for currency. To this end, we modify a standard inventory model by introducing a role for the diffusion of bank branches and ATMs withdrawal points on agents' cash holding choices. The key difference with respect to the classic Baumol - Tobin framework, where all withdrawals are assumed to be costly, is that in our setup agents are occasionally given the opportunity to withdraw at basically no costs, for example when they meet an ATM terminal during a shopping trip. We show that in such an economy both the level and the interest elasticity of the demand for currency decrease as the number of withdrawal opportunities increases. Our dataset shows that the density of bank branches and ATM terminals has a large cross-sectional and time-series dispersion. Thus, accounting for the type of withdrawal technology that is accessible to the households in different regions or periods is potentially important in the estimation of the demand for currency.

The theoretical framework suggests a modified empirical specification of the demand for currency, namely one that augments the standard specification with an index of the withdrawal technology and its interaction with the interest rate. We test this specification on a panel of Italian household data over 1989-2004, a period characterized by a widespread heterogeneity in the diffusion of bank branches and ATM terminals. The database includes information on household currency holdings, interest rates on deposit and consumption paid in cash. It also includes information on the households' access to banking services and the diffusion of the bank branch and ATM networks. An important feature of our investigation is that the data on money holdings, interest rates and expenditures are close counterparts to their theoretical notions. In particular, we use consumption paid with cash as the scale variable for the money demand. This is important because it allows us to isolate the inventory problem (how to finance a given stream of cash consumption expenditure) from the choice of *the proportion* of total expenditures to be financed in cash. The latter is influenced by developments in other transaction technologies, such as credit cards or points of sale, which transcend the scope of this paper.

The paper is organized as follows. The next section revisits the money demand estimates of Attanasio, Guiso and Jappelli (2002) using a dataset that almost doubles their sample size. The estimation shows that the interest elasticity of money demand changes significantly compared to their results. Section 3 discusses a modification of the inventory model that is used in Section 4 to revisit the household demand for currency. Section 5 discusses the results and offers some comments on related literature. Section 6 presents some evidence on the money demand effects of changes in the banking structure using an aggregate Italian time-series that covers most of the 20^{th} century. A final section summarizes our findings.

2 Revisiting previous evidence

We begin our analysis by replicating the estimation exercise of Attanasio, Guiso and Jappelli (2002) (AGJ henceforth) over a sample that is about twice as large than the one they used. The data, as in their case, are taken from the *Survey of Household Income and Wealth* (*SHIW*), an investigation of the economic behaviour of about 8,000 Italian households that is run every two years by the Bank of Italy (see Appendix A). AGJ use four surveys, covering the 1989-1995 period. We benefit from the following four ones, about the 1998-2004 period.

A key premise of the estimation method followed by AGJ is that there are significant differences in households' access to deposit accounts and withdrawal technologies. In particular, households differ in whether they own a deposit account (the relevant margin for the currency to deposit substitution) and in whether they possess an ATM card (a feature that is likely to affect the marginal cost of withdrawals).¹

¹Updated summary statistics on Italian households' money holding behaviour and access to deposit accounts and ATM cards are given in Appendix A, Table 6.

They argue that heterogeneity in the access to these banking services is likely to be endogenous, affected by factors that also influence money holding behaviour. This instance of endogenous sample selection may give rise to inconsistent estimates of the money demand coefficients if the shocks that affect the household decision to open a bank account or to have an ATM card are correlated to the shocks of the demand for currency. Based on this premise, AGJ estimate a currency demand equation controlling for sample endogeneity by means of Heckman's (1979) two step methodology.² The baseline specification for the currency demand equation, derived from McCallum and Goodfriend's (1987) extension of the Baumol-Tobin inventory model (see their Section 3), is the following:

$$\log m_{i,t} = \frac{1}{1+\beta} \log \beta + \frac{1}{1+\beta} \log w_{i,t} A_{i,t} - \frac{1}{1+\beta} \log R_{i,t} + \frac{\beta+\gamma}{1+\beta} \log c_{i,t}$$
(1)

where m denotes deflated currency holdings, β and w A are parameters of the transaction technology, R is the nominal interest rate and c measures the real consumption expenditure.

Our updated replication of AGJ estimates over a much larger sample is presented in Table 1. For ease of comparison, we use the same specification and the same variables they selected. In particular, the equation includes a measure of the interest rate paid on the household deposit account that is disaggregated by year and province,³ the value of nondurable consumption (measured at household level from *SHIW*), a linear and a quadratic trend that are intended to proxy for technological progress (the term $w_{i,t} A_{i,t}$ in equation (1)) and several demographic controls.

²In this particular case Heckman methodology implies the estimation of two probits. First, a probit for having a bank account is estimated on all the observations. Then a probit for having an ATM card, conditional on having a bank account, is estimated. This allows them to obtain the two variables (Mills' ratios) that are necessary to correct OLS estimates of the currency demand equation (see AGJ Section 4 for details).

³In Italy there are around 100 provinces. A province is comparable to a U.S. county. Descriptive statistics on the historical evolution of the mean and the dispersion of interest rates on deposits are available in Appendix A, Table 6.

	Prob	oit	Demand for currency			
	Bank account	ATM card	Bank account holders without ATM card	Bank account holders with ATM card		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
$\log(\text{consumption})$	$\underset{(0.023)}{0.301}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.729 \\ (0.016) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.470 \\ (0.016) \end{array}$	$\substack{0.488\\(0.020)}$		
$\log(\text{interest rate})$	-0.163 (0.050)	-0.134 (0.031)	$\underset{(0.024)}{0.081}$	$\underset{(0.021)}{0.023}$		
Time	-0.157 (0.008)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.157 \\ (0.006) \end{array}$	-0.036 (0.005)	-0.009 (0.007)		
Time squared	$\underset{(0.001)}{0.003}$	-0.008 (0.001)	$\underset{(0.001)}{0.003}$	$\underset{(0.001)}{0.001}$		
Less than elementary school	-0.834 (0.062)	-1.406 (0.042)	$\substack{\textbf{-0.333}\\(0.031)}$	-0.727 (0.057)		
Elementary schooling	-0.656 (0.058)	-0.937 (0.025)	-0.328 (0.026)	-0.422 (0.026)		
Junior high school	-0.305 (0.059)	-0.361 (0.024)	-0.186 (0.022)	-0.122 (0.016)		
High school	$\begin{array}{c} 0.027 \\ (0.061) \end{array}$	-0.055 (0.024)	-0.097 (0.021)	-0.056 (0.014)		
Male head	-0.006 (0.021)	$\underset{(0.015)}{0.068}$	$\underset{(0.010)}{0.101}$	$\underset{(0.011)}{0.071}$		
Living in rural areas	$\underset{(0.043)}{0.138}$	-0.179 (0.030)				
Living in suburbs	$\begin{array}{c} 0.048 \\ (0.023) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.016)}{0.106}$				
Living in semicenter	$\begin{array}{c} 0.072 \\ (0.025) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.107 \\ (0.016) \end{array}$				
Log (financial wealth)	$\underset{(0.007)}{0.730}$	$\underset{(0.004)}{0.036}$				
Number of ATMs in the province	$ \begin{array}{r} 1.861 \\ (0.057) \end{array} $	$1.077 \\ (0.034)$				
Mills ratio:						
Bank account			-0.519 (0.015)	-0.730 (0.028)		
ATM card			$\underset{(0.029)}{0.512}$	$\underset{(0.038)}{0.875}$		
Constant	-6.427 (0.244)	-8.129 (0.165)	$\underset{(0.161)}{1.416}$	-0.200 (0.237)		
\mathbb{R}^2	0.55	0.25	0.20	0.15		
Sample size	62,957	$53,\!819$	27,749	26,070		

Table 1: Demand for Currency: 1989-2004. Heckman's two step methodology.

Note: Standard errors in parenthesis.- The equations are estimated using Heckman's two-step procedure. The dependent variable in the probit regression for the ownership of a bank account (ATM card) equals one if the household has at least one account (ATM card), zero otherwise. The regressions also include the number of children, number of adults, age, age squared number of income recipients and dummies for employed, self employed and retired heads.

The first stage probits, respectively for the deposit account and the ATM card adoption, are reported in columns (1) and (2) of Table 1. The estimated coefficients show that higher levels of consumption, financial wealth, educational records and ATM withdrawal points increase the probability of adoption of both a bank account and an ATM card. The estimated parameters do not substantially differ from those obtained by restricting the sample to 1995, with the only exception of the negative effect of the (log) interest rate on the adoption of both.

The currency demand estimates concern households who possess a deposit account. Two separate demand equations are estimated, one for the households without an ATM card and one for those who possess an ATM card. The estimates are shown in columns (3) and (4) of Table 1, respectively. These indicate values for the coefficients of consumption and the demographic variables which are broadly in line with the ones of AGJ. The point estimate of the consumption elasticity is close to 0.5, the value predicted by the classical Baumol - Tobin model.

Different results from the ones of AGJ emerge instead for what concerns the estimated interest rate elasticity. Column (3) shows a positive (statistically significant) elasticity for the households without ATM card, which compares to a negative (statistically significant) value of -0.27 found by AGJ. For the households with ATM card, column (4) reports an interest elasticity that is not statistically different from zero. This compares to a point estimate of -0.59 found by AGJ over the 1989-1995 sample.

The positive (albeit small) interest rate coefficients that appear in the full sample estimates, and the large differences between those and AGJ estimates, suggest a misspecification problem.⁴ Three possible sources of misspecification are considered next. First, the linear quadratic trend used to proxy for technological progress in the withdrawal technology may impose too much of a structure over a long time

⁴Restricting the estimation to their sample period allows us to replicate their results.

period.⁵ Second, the sizable heterogeneity of the micro data (witnessed by the low values of the fit statistics) signals the presence of other unobserved factors affecting money demand. Systematic year or regional distribution of these factors, as is likely the case for the level of petty crime or the diffusion of economic activities that rely on cash (e.g. street markets, the black economy), may give rise to an omitted variable problem. Based on these considerations, the regressions presented below use year and province dummies to remove unobserved time and regional factors affecting currency demand.⁶ Third, the functional form of the demand for currency rather than obeying a constant interest rate elasticity (as implied by the log-log specification in (1)) may feature a different functional form, such as constant semi-elasticity (log-lin).

These issues are tackled by the regressions presented in Table 2. In the first set, shown in columns (1) and (4), the trend and its square are replaced by year and province dummies. The estimation results show that this specification delivers a near zero interest elasticity for both types of households, although the point estimates of the interest rate coefficient remain positive. Note, moreover, that the consumption coefficients for both types of households become much smaller (we discuss the properties of the scale variable below).

In the regressions of columns (2) and (5) the logarithm of the interest rate is replaced by the level, thus stipulating that the elasticity varies with the interest rate. This modification does not solve the puzzling finding of a positive interest elasticity. Additional experiments with alternative functional forms, including polynomial specification as well as Box-Cox transformations, do not deliver any sensible improvement in the fit of the model or the sign of the interest rate elasticity (not reported in the table).

⁵Note that in a sample that includes four periods, a linear and a quadratic trend work "almost" like time dummies.

⁶A robustness exercise discussed in Section 4 estimates the currency demand equation by removing all unobserved factors at the household level using fixed effects.

				-			
	Bank	account l	olders	Bank account holders			
	with	without ATM card			with ATM card		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
$\log(\text{consumption})$	$\underset{(0.016)}{0.307}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.310 \\ (0.016) \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c} 0.146 \\ (0.022) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.023)}{0.151}$		
$\log(\cosh \operatorname{consumption})$			$\underset{(0.014)}{0.430}$			$\underset{(0.011)}{0.313}$	
$\log(\text{interest rate})$	$\underset{(0.038)}{0.028}$		-0.109 (0.044)	$\underset{(0.034)}{0.051}$		$\underset{(0.036)}{0.044}$	
interest rate		$\underset{(0.018)}{0.069}$			$\underset{(0.025)}{0.057}$		
Mills ratios							
Bank account	-0.578 (0.015)	-0.578 (0.015)	-0.472 (0.020)	-0.647 (0.028)	-0.649 (0.028)	$-0.502 \\ (0.031)$	
ATM card	-0.091 (0.033)	-0.087 (0.033)	-0.280 (0.059)	-0.225 (0.054)	-0.212 (0.055)	-0.339 (0.073)	
Province and							
Year dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
R^2	0.26	0.26	0.26	0.21	0.21	0.21	
Sample size	27,749	27,749	$17,\!339$	$26,\!070$	$26,\!070$	$22,\!512$	

Table 2: Demand for Currency: Alternative specifications.

Note: Standard errors in parenthesis. The equations are estimated using Heckman's two-step procedure. The coefficients of the first stage probit regression are reported in Table 8. The other variables included in the second stage regressions are as in Table 1. Equations (3) and (6) are estimated over the sample period 1993-2004, the remaining equations over the sample 1989-2004.

Lastly, we analyze the role of the scale variable. The measure used above aggregates non durable consumption and service purchases irrespective of the way the agents pay for it. The large diffusion of debit and credit cards networks occurred throughout the period is likely to make this variable inappropriate for the estimation of the cash inventory model (the low consumption elasticities detected in (1) and (4) may be a consequence of this). A more appropriate scale variable, the household expenditures done in cash, is available from *SHIW* since 1993. The regressions that use the cash consumption variable are presented in columns (3) and (6). The consumption coefficients increase substantially, although they remain below one half. A small and negative interest rate elasticity is detected for the households without ATM card (at -0.1); the one for agents with ATM remains small and not significantly different from zero.⁷

Altogether, the currency demand regressions presented above yield estimates of the interest rate elasticity that are small and scattered around zero, in the -0.1 to 0.1 range. Our preferred specification, which controls for unobserved time and provincial effects and uses cash consumption as a scale variable (columns 3 and 6 of Table 2), eliminates the puzzling finding of a positive interest rate coefficient. However, the estimated interest elasticities remain small (-0.1 for agents without ATM and zero for the others) compared to previous estimates and to the predictions of inventory models such as Baumol-Tobin or Miller-Orr (which are equal to, respectively, -1/2and -1/3).⁸ The rest of this paper investigates the possibility that the developments in withdrawal technology occurred in Italy over the period considered, namely the strong diffusion of bank branches and the ATM terminals, may contribute to explain the low and unstable interest rate coefficients detected above. To this end, the next section discusses the consequences of such developments for standard inventory models of the demand for currency.

3 A theoretical framework

This section presents a modification to the standard inventory model that investigates the relation between the withdrawal technology and the demand for currency. The distinguishing feature of the model is to account for the currency demand effect

⁷Note, for comparability, that estimates of equations (3) and (6) using non-durable consumption over the 1993-2004 period yield an interest rate elasticity of -0.05 for households without ATM card, of 0.06 for households with ATM card.

⁸The possibility of a low interest elasticity at low interest rates is discussed by Mulligan and Sala-i-Martin (2000). In their model agents must pay a fixed cost to have a deposit account, which is shut down when its return falls below the cost (agents with little savings or low return will close it first). They show that this effect may lower the interest elasticity estimated on *aggregate* data. Note however that our households data are not affected by this effect as we only use data for the agents who do possess a deposit account (taking into account the sample selection problem). Moreover, as shown in Appendix A, Table 6, no clear signs of a reduction in the number of agents who possess a deposit account emerge from the data over time.

of the diffusion of cash dispensers (ATM terminals or bank branches). We consider the steady state problem of an agent who uses cash to finance an exogenous stream of consumption expenditure equal to c. Shopping takes place in one of several locations of the economy, which may be endowed with a cash dispenser that allows the agent to withdraw cash without incurring a time cost. By contrast, a withdrawal done at a location without cash dispenser entails a cost b, as in the Baumol-Tobin model, as the agent wastes some resources to walk to the bank.

Let T(M, c) be the number of costly withdrawals from the bank that are necessary to finance a consumption flow c when the average money balances are M. We assume that T is decreasing in M, so that higher balances allow the agent to finance consumption with less withdrawals, and that T is convex in M, so the minimization problem is well behaved. The money demand solves the minimization problem:

$$\min_{M} R M + b T(M, c) \tag{2}$$

where R is the net nominal interest rate. The optimal choice of M balances the impact on the cost due to forgone interest with the effect on the cost of withdrawals.

To analyze the effect of technological change in T on the money demand we present two comparative static results, one about the level of money demand and the other about its interest rate elasticity. Consider two withdrawal technologies T_i and the associated money demand schedules, M_i for i = 1, 2. Note that the first order condition of problem (2) and the assumption that T is convex in M yield:

Result 1. If the marginal cost of withdrawals is higher then the money demand is lower. Formally, if $T'_2(M) \ge T'_1(M)$ for all M then $M_2 \le M_1$ for all $R \ge 0$.

The second result relates the interest rate elasticity to the curvature of the cost function T. In particular, the first order condition of problem (2) and its total

differential imply:

$$-\frac{R}{M}\frac{\partial M}{\partial R} = 1 / \left(M\frac{T''}{-T'}\right) \tag{3}$$

The expression $-M T''/T' \ge 0$ is a measure of the local curvature of the cost function T. It is also the elasticity of the marginal cost T'. Thus equation (3) says that if the marginal cost is more sensitive to M, then the money demand is less sensitive to interest rate changes. This yields:

Result 2. If the interest rate elasticity of the marginal cost of withdrawals is higher, the interest rate elasticity of the money demand is smaller. Formally, assume that at a given R:

$$M_2 \frac{T_2''(M_2)}{-T_2'(M_2)} \ge M_1 \frac{T_1''(M_1)}{-T_1'(M_1)}$$
, then $-\frac{R}{M_2} \frac{\partial M_2}{\partial R} \le -\frac{R}{M_1} \frac{\partial M_1}{\partial R}$

where M_1 and M_2 denote, respectively, the demand for currency implied by technology T_1 and T_2 when the interest rate is R.

We now use these results to analyze the effect of technological progress in T on money demand for two alternative withdrawal technology specifications.

3.1 Example 1: Baumol-Tobin with free withdrawals

We consider a Baumol - Tobin setup and assume that in every period the agent has p contacts with the financial intermediary (opportunities to withdraw) which come for free. Withdrawals in excess of p are costly. To think of an application, imagine an agent who passes by a bank branch once a week on her way to the ball game. This case can be represented by a technology T_p saying that she has one free withdrawal a week, or p = 1. Now suppose that an ATM is installed on the way to her job and that she works six days per week. This "technological change" can be represented by an increase in p, so that she gets seven free withdrawals a week. The above setup is described by the following technology:

$$T_p(M,c) = \max\{\frac{c}{2M} - p, 0\}.$$
 (4)

where T_p denotes the number of costly withdrawals and the parameter p gives the number of free withdrawals per unit of time.

Setting p = 0 in (4) stipulates that all trips are costly, as in the Baumol-Tobin model:⁹ $T_0(M, c) = \frac{c}{2M}$. Note that T_0 has a marginal cost function T'_0 with constant elasticity equal to 2, which implies the well known result that the interest elasticity of the money demand is 1/2. The interpretation of the p > 0 case is that the agent has p free withdrawals, so that if the total number of withdrawals is c/(2M), then she pays only for the excess of c/(2M) over p.

The money demand for a technology with $p \ge 0$ is given by

$$M_p(R) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{\frac{b c}{2 R}} & \text{for } R \ge R^* \\ \sqrt{\frac{b c}{2 R^*}} & \text{for } R < R^* \end{cases}$$
(5)

where

$$R^* \equiv \left(p\right)^2 2b/c \ . \tag{6}$$

When p = 0 the forgone interest cost is small at low values of R, so agents economize on costly withdrawals and choose a large value of M. Now consider p > 0. In this case there is no reason to have less than p withdrawals per unit of time, since these are free. Hence, for $R < R^*$ agents choose the same level of money holdings, namely, $M_p(R) = M_p(R^*)$, since they are not paying for any withdrawal but they are subject to positive forgone interest rate costs.

Note that improvements in the particular technology described in (4) produce

⁹An agent with consumption flow c withdraws 2 M, which last 2M/c periods, has average balances M and makes (c/2M) trips to the bank.

a money demand that is lower in level and has a smaller interest rate elasticity (in between zero and one-half) because it indeed satisfies the assumptions for results 1 and 2 presented above. To see this, consider two technologies indexed by $0 \le p_1 < p_2$. These technologies satisfy the following three properties:

(i) A greater value of p represents technological progress, because T_p is decreasing in p. Formally $T_{p_2}(M,c) \leq T_{p_1}(M,c)$ (with strict inequality for $M < c/(2p_1)$).

(*ii*) a higher value of p increases the marginal cost T'_p , hence decreases money demand by result 1, at least for some values of M. In particular, $0 = T'_{p_2}(M, c) >$ $T'_{p_1}(M, c)$ over the range: $c/(2 p_2) < M < c/(2 p_1)$, and equal otherwise.

(*iii*) A greater value of p increases the curvature of T_p , hence decreases the interest elasticity by result 2. To see this notice that T_{p_2} can be obtained by the following transformation $T_{p_2}(M, c) = g(T_{p_1}(M, c))$ for $g(\tau) = \max\{\tau - (p_2 - p_1), 0\}$. As the transformation is increasing and convex in τ , it follows that technologies indexed by a higher value of p have more curvature.

3.2 Example 2: A random matching model

This section studies the effect of bank branch (ATM terminals) diffusion on currency demand using a random matching framework. We consider an economy with two locations: the shopping center and the financial district. The agent incurs a time cost *b* whenever she visits the financial district to withdraw money. Let *c* be the agent daily consumption and $p \in (0, 1)$ be the probability that the agent is offered an opportunity to withdraw for free in the shopping center (e.g. from an ATM). Note that a withdrawal of 2*M* allows her to finance at least 2M/c consecutive days in the shopping center (i.e. without having to go to the financial district). The probability that the agent is not matched with a cash dispenser during this period is $(1-p)^{\frac{2M}{c}}$, that for small *p* can be approximated by $e^{-\frac{2M-p}{c}}$. This probability gives the fraction of total trips $(\frac{c}{2M})$ which are costly. This yields the following transaction technology:

$$T_p(M,c) = \frac{c}{2 M} e^{-\frac{2M-p}{c}}$$

$$\tag{7}$$

where T_p denotes the average number of costly withdrawals for an agent who withdraws 2M and consumes $c.^{10}$

As for the case discussed in Section 3.1 it is immediate to show that the technology in (7) has the following features: (i) T_p is decreasing in p, so that higher values of p represent technological progress; (ii) the marginal cost T'_p is increasing in p which, by result 1, implies that the level of money demand decreases as the technology improves; (iii) the curvature of the cost function, as measured by $\left(M\frac{T''}{-T'}\right)$, is increasing in p which, by result 2, implies that the interest rate elasticity of the money demand is smaller for better technologies.¹¹

4 Estimation results

The theory discussed in the previous section shows that the level and the interest elasticity of the demand for currency depend on the type of withdrawal technology that is available to agents. In particular, it suggests that technological improvements, i.e. reductions in the cost of withdrawals, lower the level of the money demand and its interest elasticity (in absolute value). Based on these insights, we construct a proxy for the level of the withdrawal technology faced by the household

$$g\left(\tau\right) = (\tau)^2 \frac{c}{2M}.$$

¹⁰The use of equation (7) in problem (2) assumes that the ratio between the average withdrawal and the average balance is equal to 2. This is only an approximation, as the exact computation must take into account that the money holding profile is not saw-tooth, and that with random matches some withdrawals occur before a zero balance is reached. See Alvarez and Lippi (2006) for such an extension.

¹¹Some algebra shows that $\left(M\frac{T''}{-T'}\right) = 2 + \frac{(2pM)^2}{c(2pM+c)}$ which is increasing in p. Result (*iii*) is alternatively established by noting that, given $p_2 > p_1$, T_{p_2} can be obtained by applying the following increasing and convex transformation to T_{p_1} :

and estimate a specification of the demand for currency that includes this variable both in level and interacted with the interest rate.

We proxy for the level of the withdrawal technology faced by agents by using the number of bank branches per capita measured at city level (around 300 cities per year). This indicator, whose year averages and standard deviations are reported in Table 7 of Appendix A, highlights the ongoing diffusion of bank services across the territory over the past fifteen years as well as its large cross section dispersions.¹²

To make the results comparable with those described in Section 2 the currency demand estimates presented in the next Table use the same set of regressors of Table 2. All regressions feature cash-expenditure rather than non-durable consumption as a scale variable, and use year and province dummies in the place of the linearquadratic trend.¹³

Our first set of results, that controls for endogeneity in the access to bank services, is presented in Table 3. The Heckman second step regressions reported in columns (1) and (2) concern agents without ATM card. This is the group for which our measure of withdrawal technology - the number of bank branches per capita at the city level - is most appropriate.

The specification in column (1) integrates the technology measure in level. In line with the predictions of the theory, a greater diffusion of bank branches reduces currency holdings and the interest rate enters the equation with a negative and statistically significant coefficient.

Column (2) considers a specification which allows the technology index to affect both the level and the interest elasticity of the demand for currency, as the theory

¹²Until the early nineties commercial banks faced restrictions to open new bank branches in other provinces. A gradual process of liberalization has occurred since then, which has led to a sharp increase in the number of bank branches and a reduction of the interest rate differentials across different areas (see Casolaro, Gambacorta and Guiso (2006) for a review of the main developments in the banking industry during the past two decades).

¹³None of these choices is really key for the results that follow. Qualitatively similar estimates are obtained by using alternative methods (see Table 4) or by removing demographic controls.

	,			0,	
	Bank acc	ount holders	Bank account holder		
	without	ATM card	with A	ATM card	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
$\log(\cosh expenditure)$	$\underset{(0.014)}{0.431}$	$0.426 \\ (0.014)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.315 \\ (0.011) \end{array}$	$0.314 \\ (0.011)$	
log(interest rate)	-0.103 (0.044)	-0.175 (0.046)	$\underset{(0.036)}{0.048}$	$\underset{(0.038)}{0.058}$	
$\begin{array}{l} \log(\text{interest rate}) \cdot \text{Bank branches} \\ \text{per capita}^a \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c} 0.107 \\ (0.020) \end{array}$		-0.015 (0.020)	
Bank branches per capita ^{a}	-0.127 (0.033)	-0.133 (0.033)	-0.147 (0.030)	-0.150 (0.030)	
Mills ratios					
Bank account	-0.477 (0.020)	-0.475 (0.020)	-0.514 (0.031)	-0.512 (0.031)	
ATM card	-0.266 (0.059)	-0.292 (0.059)	-0.305 (0.073)	-0.314 (0.074)	
Province and					
Year dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
R^2	0.26	0.26	0.21	0.21	
Sample size	$17,\!339$	$17,\!339$	22,512	22,512	

Table 3: The Demand for Currency and Withdrawal Technology

Note: Standard errors in parenthesis. The equations are estimated using Heckman's twostep procedure. The coefficients of the first stage probit regression are reported in Table 9. The other variables included in the second stage regressions are as in Table 1. ^{*a*} Number of bank branches per capita measured at the city level.

predicts. The estimates confirm the findings of column (1) that a greater diffusion of bank branches reduces currency holdings and that the interest rate (log) level enters the equation with a negative coefficient. Moreover, the interaction between the interest rate and the diffusion term enters significantly with a positive coefficient. This suggests that the interest elasticity of the demand for currency varies across households, with lower values for households who face more a superior technology (a greater diffusion of bank branches). The comparison of (1) and (2) shows that omitting the interaction term from the estimation yields an estimate of the *average* interest rate elasticity that neglects an important layer of heterogeneity. In quantitative terms, the estimates imply that agents faced with less developed technology, e.g. a diffusion value of 0.1 (the 5th percentile), have an interest elasticity of about -0.2. The interest elasticity falls to -0.1 for the median agent (the median of the diffusion indicator is around 0.5) and is basically nil for the households facing the highest levels of development.

The regressions in columns (3) and (4) concern households who possess an ATM card. We attempt this estimation exercise even though we are aware of the fact that our index for the development of the withdrawal technology - the diffusion of bank branches per capita at the city level - is not the most appropriate measure of diffusion for this type of household.¹⁴ The estimation results should thus be taken with a grain of salt, as they may be subject to a greater amount of measurement error than the ones concerning the households without ATM.

In both regressions the level of currency holdings is negatively related to the diffusion of bank branches, with a coefficient magnitude comparable to the one detected for the agents without ATM card. Instead, the interest rate coefficients (both levels and interactions) are not significantly different from zero. In principle, a zero interest elasticity for agents who face a more advanced withdrawal technology can be explained by the models outlined in Section 3. For instance, the Baumol-Tobin model with free withdrawals predicts that the interest rate range over which the demand for currency has a zero interest elasticity expands with technological advances.

We conclude this section by exploring the robustness of the estimates. The results for the households without ATM card are shown in Table 4.¹⁵ For all regressions, we compute the coefficients' standard errors by accounting for the possibility of heteroschedasticity and cross correlation of the shocks within a province in a given year.¹⁶ We begin by assessing whether the estimated coefficients were affected by

¹⁴Unfortunately information on the diffusion of ATM terminals, the natural diffusion measure for the ATM card holders, is not available to us at the city level but only at the province level (about 100 datapoint per cross section).

¹⁵The corresponding results for the households with ATM card are reported in Appendix C (Table 10).

¹⁶The standard errors presented in Tables 2 and 3 do not control for heteroschedasticity and cross correlation because of comparability with AGJ (2002).

the choice of the Heckman estimation method. The identification of the currency demand coefficients in the presence of sample endogeneity hinges on the specification of the probit selection equation. In particular, if the first and the second stage OLS have a large set of variables in common, a collinearity problem may occur as the Mills ratio is approximately a linear function of these variables over a wide range of values (see Puhani, 2000).¹⁷ To assess the impact of multicollinearity on the baseline results of column (2) of Table 3 we present a plain OLS estimate of the demand for currency in column (1) of Table 4. The results show that coefficients on cash consumption and the interest rate are similar to those estimated in Table 3.

	Bank account holders without ATM card					
Estimation method	Ordinary Least Squares	$Instrumental \\Variables^{a}$	Household Fixed Effects			
	(1)	(2)	(3)			
$\log(\cosh expenditure)$	$\underset{(0.018)}{0.486}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.487 \\ (0.018) \end{array}$	$\substack{0.393\\(0.025)}$			
$\log(\text{interest rate})$	-0.180 (0.092)	-0.236 (0.135)	-0.334 (0.088)			
$\begin{array}{l} \log(\text{interest rate}) \cdot \text{Bank branches} \\ \text{per capita}^b \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.109 \\ (0.036) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.103 \\ (0.062) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.098 \\ (0.046) \end{array}$			
Bank branches per capita ^b	-0.113 (0.058)	-0.159 (0.127)	-0.399 (0.135)			
Province dummies	Yes	Yes	No			
Year dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes			
R^2	0.23	0.23	0.08			
Sample size	17,371	17,371	17,371			

Table 4: The Demand for Currency and Withdrawal Technology: Robustness.

Note: Robust standard errors in parenthesis. The other regressors are as in Table 1. -^{*a*} The instruments used for the deposit interest rate and the number of bank branches at the city level are the interest rate lagged value and the number of firms and employees per resident at the city level. -^{*b*} Number of bank branches per capita measured at the city level.

We consider next the possibility that some of the regressors are not exogenous

¹⁷The Montecarlo evidence surveyed in Puhani (2000) shows that, based on standard evaluation criteria, OLS is often superior to limited information maximum likelihood in the case of multicollinearity. In our case a suspect multicollinearity problem is signalled by the fact that the regression of the Mills ratio of the ATM adoption on the other regressors of the second stage OLS yields an R^2 statistic of 95 per cent.

with respect to the currency demand shocks. This issue might arise both for the number of bank branches per city and the deposit interest rate at the province level, which might move in response to currency demand shocks that are common to all households of a given city or province. To this end we study the sensitivity of the results in Table 3 instrumenting the interest rates with the previous-year value and the number of bank branches with the number of firms in the area. The results, reported in column (2) of Table 4, do not show significant differences with respect to the benchmark estimates of Table 3.¹⁸

Finally, column (3) of Table 4 presents results obtained by a fixed effect estimate, which controls for household-specific unobserved factors. The estimated coefficients of the consumption, interest rate and bank branch diffusion are statistically significant and maintain the expected sign. The point estimates of the direct (negative) effect of bank branch diffusion on currency holdings and the average interest elasticity (about -0.3) are somewhat larger than the values reported in columns (1) and (2). The coefficient of the interaction term is unaffected, confirming the previous estimate of the marginal effect of technological advances on the interest rate elasticity.

5 Discussion and related literature

The evidence on the households money demand discussed in the previous section is consistent with the theory presented in Section 3, which predicts that the level and interest elasticity of money demand decrease with developments in the withdrawal technology.

Other studies, based on cross-section or time series data, have analyzed the effects

¹⁸The fact that the estimates obtained through OLS and IV are very similar provides evidence in support of a limited relevance of endogeneity problems, an hypothesis confirmed by standard exogeneity tests on the three variables (not reported).

of financial innovation on the level of the money demand. Duca and Whitesell (1995), who follow a cross-sectional approach based on US household survey data, find that credit card ownership is associated with lower money holdings. AGJ highlight, based on Italian survey data, that ATM users hold significantly lower cash balances than non-users. Similarly, Stix (2004) offers evidence concerning Austrian individuals showing that the demand for purse cash is significantly smaller for ATM users. Overall, the evidence consistently indicates that innovations in withdrawal (ATM cards) and payment instruments (credit cards) reduce the level of money balances that agents hold.

Concerning the interest elasticity of the demand for currency, our estimates indicate a value in the -0.3 to -0.1 range for the median household without ATM card. A basically zero elasticity is found for agents with an ATM card. These values are within the range of theoretically plausible elasticities predicted by the models of Section 3.

The estimated interest elasticity for the households without ATM is close to the one detected by AGJ, which is -0.27. A stark difference emerges instead for the households with ATM card, whose interest elasticity was estimated at -0.59 based on the 1989-1995 surveys, but turns out to be essentially nil using the full sample period. In our view the latter finding is to be preferred to the high elasticity found over the smaller sample, not just because of the greater amount of information upon which it is based but also because it is consistent with the theoretical prediction that agents with more developed withdrawal technologies (e.g. ATM card holders) are expected to have a smaller interest elasticity.¹⁹

The findings concerning the elasticity with respect to the scale variable (non-

¹⁹This proposition, which holds true for the models discussed in Section 3, is also consistent with the McCallum-Goodfriend model that underlies AGJ formulation. That model can be written in terms of problem (2) by defining the transaction technology: $T(M,c) = Ac^{\gamma} \left(\frac{c}{M}\right)^{\beta}$ where A, β and γ are technological parameters and c denotes consumption. A smaller interest elasticity requires a larger value of the parameter β . A greater value of this parameter corresponds to technological development as it reduces the cost of withdrawals provided c/M < 1.

durable consumption or cash-expenditure) that emerge from the various specifications indicate values that are close, sometimes a little below, one-half. These estimates, which are essentially based upon the cross-sectional variation (due to our use of year dummies), differ from the near-unit elasticity that emerges by the analyses of long time-series, e.g. Lucas (1988, 2000) and Meltzer (1963), and is predicted by many theoretical models. The issue is of interest in the debate on the optimality of the Friedman rule (e.g. De Fiore and Teles, 2003). A simple reconciliation between the long-run unit elasticity of consumption and the smaller values detected over the cross-sectional household data is that the cost of a trip to the bank, b, is linked to the consumption (income) variable in the long-run but less so in the cross-section (or the short-run). It is reasonable to presume that the b cost is related to the wages in the banking sector which, over a long time period, is proportional to aggregate wages and consumption. Formally, assuming a proportionality relation between band c yields a unit income elasticity if one maintains the reasonable assumption that the transaction technology T(M,c) in problem (2) is homogenous of degree zero in M and c (as in the example economies discussed in Section 3).²⁰ The next section presents estimates of the demand for currency in Italy based on a centennial time-series (yearly data), from 1890 to 1998 (the last year before the euro was introduced). The unit elasticity is strongly supported by the time-series evidence. The estimated interest elasticity is about -0.3, a value that is consistent with the estimates that were found above.

6 Time series evidence from the 20th century

This section investigates the robustness of the results based on disaggregated data using a long time-series for aggregate Italian data. We estimate a specification of the

²⁰The proof follows immediately from the first order condition of problem (2): -R = b T'(M, c). Note that the homogeneity zero of T(M, c) implies $T'(\lambda M, \lambda c) = \lambda^{-1}T'(M, c)$.

demand for currency that accounts for developments in withdrawal technology, as proxied by the diffusion of bank branches. The evidence is based on annual Italian data from 1936 to 1998.²¹ The results are reported in Table 5.

	Dependent variable: log(real currency holdings)				
		Levels		First differences	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
log(real GDP)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.878 \\ \scriptscriptstyle (0.058) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.071)}{1.032}$	$\underset{(0.073)}{1.065}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.749 \\ \scriptscriptstyle (0.141) \end{array}$	
log(interest rate)	-0.217 (0.075)	$\substack{-0.283\\(0.058)}$	-0.505 (0.241)	-0.377 (0.188)	
$log(interest rate) \cdot Bank branches per capita$			$\underset{(0.767)}{0.833}$	$\substack{\textbf{0.819}\\(0.500)}$	
Bank branches per capita		-1.202 (0.423)	-3.021 (1.676)	-2.944(1.769)	
Number of observations	63	63	63	62	

Table 5: Currency Demand in Italy : 1936-1998.

Newey-West standard errors in parenthesis. - All regressions include a year dummy for the war year 1944.

In column (1) we report the results of the estimation of a baseline money demand equation relating real currency holdings to GDP and the nominal interest rate. The estimates detect a near-unit income elasticity, in line with previous results based on long time-series and theoretical models (see e.g. Lucas, 1988, Lucas, 2000 and Meltzer, 1963). The interest rate elasticity, although significantly below one-half, is comparable to the one found by previous studies. In the regression of column (2) the baseline money demand equation is augmented with a proxy for the development of the withdrawal technology, namely the ratio between the number of bank branches and population. This variable enters the equation significantly and with a negative sign, suggesting that a greater diffusion of bank branches reduces currency holdings,

²¹The sample size is constrained because data on the number of bank branches are available only from 1936. The GDP data is from Fenoaltea (2005) and the national statistical institute (ISTAT), the price level from ISTAT, currency in circulation and interest rates from De Mattia (1967), the number of bank branches from Banca d'Italia (1977).

as predicted by the theory. Compared to the estimates of column (1) both the income and the interest rate elasticity increase, although the latter remains below one-half.

In column (3) we present our preferred specification for the currency demand equation, which includes the interaction between the (log) interest rate and bankbranch diffusion. The point estimates suggest an income elasticity not significantly different from one and a lower bound for the interest rate elasticity equal to onehalf.²² Moreover, the signs of the financial diffusion variable (both for the level and the interaction with the interest rate) are in line with the theoretical predictions of Section 3. The point estimates suggest that over seventy years the interest rate elasticity in Italy declined from around -0.4 to -0.1. Note that the interaction term is not statistically different from zero. This is likely due to a multicollinearity problem, as suggested by the high level of the condition number and by the fact that the regression of the interaction term on the interest rate and of financial diffusion yields an R^2 above 98 per cent. A tentative assessment of the effects of multicollinearity on the estimated parameters is provided in column (4) where we present results based on first-differenced variables.²³ These estimates confirm sign and magnitude of the financial diffusion coefficients detected in the level regressions (the p-values for the interaction and level terms of financial diffusion are both equal to ten per cent).

7 Concluding remarks

This paper contributes to the quest for accurate quantitative estimates of the parameters that govern the money demand function. We argue that accounting for technological development is important to identify theoretically consistent estimates of

 $^{^{22}}$ The lower bound is reached for a near zero level of financial diffusion.

 $^{^{23}}$ We are aware that first differencing, even if it is often suggested as a remedy for multicollinearity problems is not a panacea. See, for example, Burt (1987).

the demand schedule. We base our analysis on an original household level database that provides us with empirical observations that closely match their theoretical counterpart over the 1989-2004 period.

The analysis is guided by a theoretical framework on the money demand effect that are caused by advances in the withdrawal technology. The main theoretical implication of the model is that technological development has an effect on average money holding and on the interest elasticity of money demand. The latter prediction is the novel implication of this paper. These insights are tested by augmenting a standard money demand equation with a proxy for the technology level faced by households (the number of per capita bank branches) and its interaction with the interest rate.

Our results, which are robust to different estimation methods, suggest that the money demand is significantly affected by advances in the withdrawal technology. In particular, for the households that do not have an ATM card, the density of bank branches and its interaction with the interest rate enter the money demand equation with the sign predicted by the theory. The estimates suggest that the interest elasticity of money demand lies in between 0.2, for households who face the least developed withdrawal technology, and zero, for the ones facing the highest one. The micro evidence upon which our results are based is drawn from the 1993-2004 period. The analysis of an aggregate Italian time-series for a much longer period covering most of the 20^{th} century confirms the impact of financial development on the level and interest elasticity of the demand for currency.

Appendix

A Currency and financial development: the data

Our analysis relies on a dataset drawn from the Survey of Household Income and Wealth (SHIW), a periodic survey conducted by the Bank of Italy since 1965 on a rotating sample of Italian households. The survey collects information on several social and economic characteristics of the household members, such as age, gender, education, employment, income, real and financial wealth, consumption and saving behavior. Each survey is conducted on a sample of about 8,000 households. We focus on the surveys conducted from 1989 to 2004 because they include a section dedicated to the household cash management. This contains data on the average amount of cash held by the household and information on the household access to various means of withdrawal and deposit. Annual sample means of some variables related to the household currency management are reported in Table 6.

Variable	1989	1991	1993	1995	1998	2000	2002	2004
Fraction with a checking account	0.88	0.86	0.84	0.85	0.85	0.85	0.86	0.86
Fraction using ATMs	0.15	0.29	0.34	0.40	0.49	0.52	0.56	0.58
Average currency holdings	705	581	417	466	407	393	394	400
No bank account	694	609	382	463	395	416	521	550
With bank account	707	577	423	467	409	389	373	376
No ATM card	697	601	448	506	444	448	425	422
With ATM card	754	530	386	423	382	352	345	354
Nondurable consumption	$1,\!644$	1,544	1,572	$1,\!632$	1,537	$1,\!600$	$1,\!633$	1,705
Cash consumption			1,025	1,036	910	923	889	871
Total number of observations	8,274	8,188	8,089	8,135	7,147	8,001	8,011	8,012

Table 6: Italian household: currency management

Source: Bank of Italy - *Survey of Household Income and Wealth*. Entries computed using sample weights. - Nominal variables are deflated and expressed in euro (base: 2004). - Nondurable and cash consumption are averages per month.

The first line shows that about 15 per cent of the households did not hold a checking account in 2002, a value that is near that recorded in 1989. During the same period, the fraction of households who possess an ATM card increases sharply, from 15 to 55 per cent. Concerning real currency holdings, the average amount held by the household almost halves during the last 15 years. The reduction, which is common across households with different withdrawal technologies, is largest for those who own an ATM card.

Table 7 reports summary statistics on the supply of bank services, such as the diffusion of bank branches, ATM terminals, and on the interest rate paid on deposits.²⁴ Note that interest rates paid on deposits record a substantial reduction

²⁴These data are drawn from the Supervisory Reports to the Bank of Italy and the Italian

since 1989, although they maintain a relatively large cross-sectional variation even in more recent years (this is important to estimate the interest elasticity).

Variable	1989	1991	1993	1995	1998	2000	2002	2004
Bank branches ^{a}		$\begin{array}{c} 0.35 \\ (0.19) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.41 \\ (0.23) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.24)}{0.44}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.49 \\ (0.24) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.53 \\ \scriptscriptstyle (0.27) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.31)}{0.54}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.57 \\ (0.31) \end{array}$
ATM $points^b$	$\underset{(0.07)}{0.10}$	$\underset{(0.13)}{0.22}$	$\underset{(0.18)}{0.32}$	$\underset{(0.19)}{0.39}$	$\underset{(0.22)}{0.51}$	$\underset{(0.22)}{0.57}$	$\underset{(0.23)}{0.65}$	$\underset{(0.22)}{0.65}$
Interest rate ^{c}	$\underset{(0.48)}{6.90}$	$\underset{(0.52)}{6.69}$	$\underset{(0.45)}{6.07}$	$\underset{(0.32)}{5.18}$	$\underset{(0.22)}{2.14}$	$\underset{(0.21)}{1.13}$	$\underset{(0.15)}{0.77}$	$\underset{(0.12)}{0.33}$

Table 7: Financial development and interest rates

Entries computed using sample weights. - Standard deviation in parenthesis. - a Per thousand residents; individual observations disaggregated at city level. b Per thousand residents; individual observations disaggregated at provincial level. c Individual observations disaggregated at provincial level. (source: Central credit register).

Central Credit Register (See Miller (2000) for a detailed description of this database). Information is available for each year and province. Italian provinces were 95 until 1995 and became 103 afterwards. The size of a province is broadly comparable to that of a U.S. county).

B Additional evidence

	Probit for equation	ions (1) and (4)	Probit for equat	ions (2) and (5)	Probit for equations (3) and	
	Bank account	ATM card	Bank account	ATM card	Bank account	ATM card
$\log(\text{consumption})$	$\underset{(0.023)}{0.301}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.729 \\ (0.016) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.024)}{0.304}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.727 \\ (0.016) \end{array}$		
$\log(\cosh expenditure)$					-0.092 (0.023)	$\underset{(0.013)}{0.197}$
$\log(\text{interest rate})$	-0.163 (0.050)	-0.134 (0.031)			-0.271 (0.095)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \\ (0.055) \end{array}$
interest rate			-0.123 (0.039)	$\underset{(0.031)}{0.066}$		
Province and Year dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
R^2	0.55	0.25	0.58	0.27	0.61	0.21
Sample size	$62,\!957$	$53,\!819$	62,957	$53,\!819$	46,756	39,851

Table 8: Probit (first stage analysis for Table 2)

Note: The dependent variable in the probit regression for the ownership of a bank account (ATM card) equals one if the household has at least one account (ATM card), zero otherwise. The other regressors are as in Table 1.

	,	- ·	,	
	Probit for equat	ions (1) and (3)	Probit for equations (2) an	
	Bank account	ATM card	Bank account	ATM card
log(cash expenditure)	-0.092 (0.023)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.197 \\ (0.013) \end{array}$	-0.092 (0.023)	$\underset{(0.013)}{0.196}$
log(interest rate)	-0.271 (0.095)	$\underset{(0.055)}{0.129}$	-0.250 (0.110)	$\underset{(0.068)}{0.019}$
$log(interest rate) \cdot Number$ of bank branches in the city			-0.057 (0.151)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.245 \\ (0.089) \end{array}$
Number of bank branches in the city	$\begin{array}{c} 0.373 \ (0.238) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.281 \\ (0.142) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.239)}{0.364}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.306 \\ (0.142) \end{array}$
Province and Year dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
R^2	0.61	0.21	0.61	0.21
Sample size	46,756	39,851	46,756	39,851

Table 9: Probit (first stage analysis for Table 3)

Note: Standard errors in parenthesis. The dependent variable in the probit regression for the ownership of a bank account (ATM card) equals one if the household has at least one account (ATM card), zero otherwise. The other regressors are as in Table 1.

Table 10: The Demand for Currency and Withd	rawal Technology: Robustness.
---	-------------------------------

	Bank account holders with ATM ca					
Estimation method	Ordinary Least Squares (1)	Instrumental Variables ^a (2)	Household Fixed Effects (3)			
log(cash expenditure)	$\underset{(0.012)}{0.356}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.358 \\ (0.012) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.014)}{0.261}$			
log(interest rate)	$\underset{(0.080)}{0.076}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.047 \\ (0.124) \end{array}$	$\underset{(0.063)}{0.050}$			
$\begin{array}{l} \log(\text{interest rate}) \cdot \text{Bank branches} \\ \text{per capita}^b \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.001 \\ (0.038) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.000 \\ (0.056) \end{array}$	-0.098 (0.039)			
Bank branches per capita ^b	-0.137 (0.046)	-0.002 (0.096)	-0.356 (0.124)			
Province dummies	Yes	Yes	No			
Year dummies	Yes	Yes	Yes			
R^2	0.19	0.19	0.06			
Sample size	22,620	22,620	22,620			

Note: Robust standard errors in parenthesis. The other regressors are as in Table 1. - $-^{a}$ The instruments used for the deposit interest rate and the number of bank branches at the city level are the interest rate lagged value and the number of firms and employees per resident at the city level. $-^{b}$ Number of bank branches per capita measured at the city level.

References

- [1] Alvarez, F. and Lippi, F. (2007), "Financial innovation and the transactions demand for cash", NBER Working Papers, n. 13416.
- [2] Attanasio, O., Guiso, L. and Jappelli, T. (2002), "The Demand for Money, Financial Innovation and the Welfare Cost of Inflation: An Analysis with Household Data", Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 110(2), 318–351.
- Banca d'Italia, (1977), Struttura funzionale e territoriale del sistema bancario italiano 1936-1974, Roma.
- [4] Bailey, M. (1956), "The Welfare Cost of Inflationary Finance", Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 64, 93-110.
- [5] Burt, O.R. (1987), "The Fallacy of Differencing to Reduce Multicollinearity", American Journal of Agricultural Economics, Vol. 69, No. 3, pp. 697-700.
- [6] Casolaro, L., Gambacorta, L. and Guiso, L. (2006), "Regulation, formal and informal enforcement and the development of the household loan market. Lessons from Italy" in *The Economics of Consumer Credit: European Experience and Lessons from the US*, G. Bertola, C. Grant e R. Disney (Eds.), MIT press, Boston.
- [7] De Fiore, F. and Teles, P. (2003), "The optimal mix of taxes on money, consumption and income", Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 50, pp. 871-87.
- [8] De Mattia, R. (1967), "I bilanci degli istituti italiani di emissione dal 1845 al 1936, altre serie storiche di interesse monetario e fonti", *Studi e Ricerche sulla Moneta*, Banca d'Italia, Roma.
- [9] Duca, J.V. and Whitesell, W.C. (1995), "Credit cards and money demand: A cross-sectional study", Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, Vol. 27(2), pp. 604-623.
- [10] Fenoaltea, S. (2005), "The growth of the Italian economy 1861-1913: Preliminary second-generation estimates", European Review of Economic History, Vol. 9, pp.273-312.
- [11] Friedman, M. (1969), The Optimum Quantity of Money and Other Essays, Aldine Publishing Company, Chicago.
- [12] Heckman, J. (1979), "Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error", Econometrica, Vol. 47, 153-61.

- [13] King, R.G. (1988), "Money demand in the United States: A quantitative review: A Comment", Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy, Vol. 29, 169-172.
- [14] Lucas, R.E. Jr. (1988), "Money demand in the United States: A quantitative review", Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy, Vol. 29, 137-168.
- [15] Lucas, R.E. Jr. (2000), "Inflation and Welfare", Econometrica, Vol. 68(2), 247-74.
- [16] McCallum, B. and Goodfriend, M. (1987), "Demand for Money Theoretical Studies", in *The New Palgrave: A Dictionary of Economics*, J. Eatwell, M. Milgate and P. Newman (Eds.), Macmillan, London.
- [17] Meltzer, A.H. (1963), "The Demand for Money: The Evidence from the Time Series", Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 71, 219–46.
- [18] Miller, M. (2000), "Credit Reporting Systems Around the Globe: The State of the Art in Public and Private Credit Registries", mimeo, World Bank, Washington DC.
- [19] Mulligan, C. and Sala-i-Martin, X. (2000), "Extensive Margins and the Demand for Money at Low Interest Rates", Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 108(5), pp. 961-91.
- [20] Puhani, P. (2000), "The Heckman correction for sample selection and its critique", Journal of Economic Surveys, Vol. 14(1), pp. 53–68.
- [21] Teles, P. and Zhou, R. (2005), "A stable money demand: Looking for the right monetary aggregate", Economic Perspectives, Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago, pp. 50-63.
- [22] Stix, H. (2004), "How do debit cards affect cash demand? Survey data evidence", Empirica, Vol. 31, pp. 93-115.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 670 Credit risk and business cycle over different regimes, by Juri Marcucci and Mario Quagliariello (June 2008).
- N. 671 Cyclical asymmetry in fiscal variables, by Fabrizio Balassone, Maura Francese and Stefania Zotteri (June 2008).
- N. 672 Labour market for teachers: Demographic characteristics and allocative mechanisms, by Gianna Barbieri, Piero Cipollone and Paolo Sestito (June 2008).
- N. 673 Output growth volatility and remittances, by Matteo Bugamelli and Francesco Paternò (June 2008).
- N. 674 Agglomeration within and between regions: Two econometric based indicators, by Valter Di Giacinto and Marcello Pagnini (June 2008).
- N. 675 Service regulation and growth: Evidence from OECD countries, by Guglielmo Barone and Federico Cingano (June 2008).
- N. 676 Has globalisation changed the Phillips curve? Firm-level evidence on the effect of activity on prices, by Eugenio Gaiotti (June 2008).
- N. 677 Forecasting inflation and tracking monetary policy in the euro area: Does national information help? by Riccardo Cristadoro, Fabrizio Venditti and Giuseppe Saporito (June 2008).
- N. 678 Monetary policy effects: New evidence from the Italian flow of funds, by Riccardo Bonci and Francesco Columba (June 2008).
- N. 679 Does the expansion of higher education increase the equality of educational opportunities? Evidence from Italy, by Massimiliano Bratti, Daniele Checchi and Guido de Blasio (June 2008).
- N. 680 Family succession and firm performance: Evidence from Italian family firms, by Marco Cucculelli and Giacinto Micucci (June 2008).
- N. 681 Short-term interest rate futures as monetary policy forecasts, by Giuseppe Ferrero and Andrea Nobili (June 2008).
- N. 682 Vertical specialisation in Europe: Evidence from the import content of exports, by Emanuele Breda, Rita Cappariello and Roberta Zizza (August 2008).
- N. 683 A likelihood-based analysis for relaxing the exclusion restriction in randomized experiments with imperfect compliance, by Andrea Mercatanti (August 2008).
- N. 684 Balancing work and family in Italy: New mothers' employment decisions after childbirth, by Piero Casadio, Martina Lo Conte and Andrea Neri (August 2008).
- N. 685 Temporal aggregation of univariate and multivariate time series models: A survey, by Andrea Silvestrini and David Veredas (August 2008).
- N. 686 Exploring agent-based methods for the analysis of payment systems: A crisis model for StarLogo TNG, by Luca Arciero, Claudia Biancotti, Leandro D'Aurizio and Claudio Impenna (August 2008).
- N. 687 The labor market impact of immigration in Western Germany in the 1990's, by Francesco D'Amuri, Gianmarco I. P. Ottaviano and Giovanni Peri (August 2008).
- N. 688 Agglomeration and growth: the effects of commuting costs, by Antonio Accetturo (September 2008).
- N. 689 A beta based framework for (lower) bond risk premia, by Stefano Nobili and Gerardo Palazzo (September 2008).
- N. 690 *Nonlinearities in the dynamics of the euro area demand for M1*, by Alessandro Calza and Andrea Zaghini (September 2008).
- N. 691 Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory schooling, by Sauro Mocetti (September 2008).
- N. 692 Investors' risk attitude and risky behavior: a Bayesian approach with imperfect information, by Stefano Iezzi (September 2008).
- N. 693 Competing influence, by Enrico Sette (September 2008).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

2006

- F. BUSETTI, Tests of seasonal integration and cointegration in multivariate unobserved component models, Journal of Applied Econometrics, Vol. 21, 4, pp. 419-438, **TD No. 476 (June 2003).**
- C. BIANCOTTI, A polarization of inequality? The distribution of national Gini coefficients 1970-1996, Journal of Economic Inequality, Vol. 4, 1, pp. 1-32, **TD No. 487 (March 2004)**.
- L. CANNARI and S. CHIRI, *La bilancia dei pagamenti di parte corrente Nord-Sud (1998-2000)*, in L. Cannari, F. Panetta (a cura di), Il sistema finanziario e il Mezzogiorno: squilibri strutturali e divari finanziari, Bari, Cacucci, **TD No. 490 (March 2004)**.
- M. BOFONDI and G. GOBBI, *Information barriers to entry into credit markets*, Review of Finance, Vol. 10, 1, pp. 39-67, **TD No. 509 (July 2004).**
- W. FUCHS and LIPPI F., *Monetary union with voluntary participation*, Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 73, pp. 437-457 **TD No. 512** (July 2004).
- E. GAIOTTI and A. SECCHI, Is there a cost channel of monetary transmission? An investigation into the pricing behaviour of 2000 firms, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, Vol. 38, 8, pp. 2013-2038 TD No. 525 (December 2004).
- A. BRANDOLINI, P. CIPOLLONE and E. VIVIANO, *Does the ILO definition capture all unemployment?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, Vol. 4, 1, pp. 153-179, **TD No. 529** (December 2004).
- A. BRANDOLINI, L. CANNARI, G. D'ALESSIO and I. FAIELLA, *Household wealth distribution in Italy in the* 1990s, in E. N. Wolff (ed.) International Perspectives on Household Wealth, Cheltenham, Edward Elgar, **TD No. 530 (December 2004)**.
- P. DEL GIOVANE and R. SABBATINI, Perceived and measured inflation after the launch of the Euro: Explaining the gap in Italy, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, Vol. 65, 2, pp. 155-192, TD No. 532 (December 2004).
- M. CARUSO, *Monetary policy impulses, local output and the transmission mechanism*, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, Vol. 65, 1, pp. 1-30, **TD No. 537 (December 2004).**
- L. GUISO and M. PAIELLA, The role of risk aversion in predicting individual behavior, In P. A. Chiappori e C. Gollier (eds.) Competitive Failures in Insurance Markets: Theory and Policy Implications, Monaco, CESifo, **TD No. 546 (February 2005).**
- G. M. TOMAT, Prices product differentiation and quality measurement: A comparison between hedonic and matched model methods, Research in Economics, Vol. 60, 1, pp. 54-68, TD No. 547 (February 2005).
- L. GUISO, M. PAIELLA and I. VISCO, Do capital gains affect consumption? Estimates of wealth effects from Italian household's behavior, in L. Klein (ed), Long Run Growth and Short Run Stabilization: Essays in Memory of Albert Ando (1929-2002), Cheltenham, Elgar, TD No. 555 (June 2005).
- F. BUSETTI, S. FABIANI and A. HARVEY, *Convergence of prices and rates of inflation*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 68, 1, pp. 863-878, **TD No. 575 (February 2006).**
- M. CARUSO, Stock market fluctuations and money demand in Italy, 1913 2003, Economic Notes, Vol. 35, 1, pp. 1-47, **TD No. 576 (February 2006)**.
- S. IRANZO, F. SCHIVARDI and E. TOSETTI, *Skill dispersion and productivity: An analysis with matched data*, CEPR Discussion Paper, 5539, **TD No. 577 (February 2006).**
- R. BRONZINI and G. DE BLASIO, *Evaluating the impact of investment incentives: The case of Italy's Law* 488/92. Journal of Urban Economics, Vol. 60, 2, pp. 327-349, **TD No. 582 (March 2006).**
- R. BRONZINI and G. DE BLASIO, *Una valutazione degli incentivi pubblici agli investimenti*, Rivista Italiana degli Economisti, Vol. 11, 3, pp. 331-362, **TD No. 582** (March 2006).
- A. DI CESARE, *Do market-based indicators anticipate rating agencies? Evidence for international banks*, Economic Notes, Vol. 35, pp. 121-150, **TD No. 593 (May 2006).**
- R. GOLINELLI and S. MOMIGLIANO, *Real-time determinants of fiscal policies in the euro area*, Journal of Policy Modeling, Vol. 28, 9, pp. 943-964, **TD No. 609 (December 2006).**

- S. SIVIERO and D. TERLIZZESE, *Macroeconomic forecasting: Debunking a few old wives' tales,* Journal of Business Cycle Measurement and Analysis, v. 3, 3, pp. 287-316, **TD No. 395 (February 2001)**.
- S. MAGRI, Italian households' debt: The participation to the debt market and the size of the loan, Empirical Economics, v. 33, 3, pp. 401-426, **TD No. 454** (October 2002).
- L. CASOLARO. and G. GOBBI, *Information technology and productivity changes in the banking industry*, Economic Notes, Vol. 36, 1, pp. 43-76, **TD No. 489 (March 2004)**.
- G. FERRERO, *Monetary policy, learning and the speed of convergence,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 31, 9, pp. 3006-3041, **TD No. 499 (June 2004).**
- M. PAIELLA, Does wealth affect consumption? Evidence for Italy, Journal of Macroeconomics, Vol. 29, 1, pp. 189-205, TD No. 510 (July 2004).
- F. LIPPI. and S. NERI, *Information variables for monetary policy in a small structural model of the euro area*, Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 54, 4, pp. 1256-1270, **TD No. 511 (July 2004)**.
- A. ANZUINI and A. LEVY, *Monetary policy shocks in the new EU members: A VAR approach*, Applied Economics, Vol. 39, 9, pp. 1147-1161, **TD No. 514 (July 2004)**.
- D. JR. MARCHETTI and F. Nucci, *Pricing behavior and the response of hours to productivity shocks*, Journal of Money Credit and Banking, v. 39, 7, pp. 1587-1611, **TD No. 524 (December 2004).**
- R. BRONZINI, *FDI Inflows, agglomeration and host country firms' size: Evidence from Italy*, Regional Studies, Vol. 41, 7, pp. 963-978, **TD No. 526 (December 2004).**
- L. MONTEFORTE, Aggregation bias in macro models: Does it matter for the euro area?, Economic Modelling, 24, pp. 236-261, **TD No. 534 (December 2004)**.
- A. NOBILI, Assessing the predictive power of financial spreads in the euro area: does parameters instability matter?, Empirical Economics, Vol. 31, 1, pp. 177-195, **TD No. 544 (February 2005)**.
- A. DALMAZZO and G. DE BLASIO, *Production and consumption externalities of human capital: An empirical study for Italy*, Journal of Population Economics, Vol. 20, 2, pp. 359-382, **TD No. 554 (June 2005).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and R. TEDESCHI, Le strategie di prezzo delle imprese esportatrici italiane, Politica Economica, v. 23, 3, pp. 321-350, TD No. 563 (November 2005).
- L. GAMBACORTA and S. IANNOTTI, Are there asymmetries in the response of bank interest rates to monetary shocks?, Applied Economics, v. 39, 19, pp. 2503-2517, TD No. 566 (November 2005).
- P. ANGELINI and F. LIPPI, *Did prices really soar after the euro cash changeover? Evidence from ATM withdrawals*, International Journal of Central Banking, Vol. 3, 4, pp. 1-22, **TD No. 581 (March 2006)**.
- A. LOCARNO, *Imperfect knowledge, adaptive learning and the bias against activist monetary policies*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 3, 3, pp. 47-85, **TD No. 590 (May 2006)**.
- F. LOTTI and J. MARCUCCI, *Revisiting the empirical evidence on firms' money demand*, Journal of Economics and Business, Vol. 59, 1, pp. 51-73, **TD No. 595** (May 2006).
- P. CIPOLLONE and A. ROSOLIA, *Social interactions in high school: Lessons from an earthquake*, American Economic Review, Vol. 97, 3, pp. 948-965, **TD No. 596 (September 2006).**
- L. DEDOLA and S. NERI, *What does a technology shock do? A VAR analysis with model-based sign restrictions*, Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 54, 2, pp. 512-549, **TD No. 607 (December 2006)**.
- A. BRANDOLINI, Measurement of income distribution in supranational entities: The case of the European Union, in S. P. Jenkins e J. Micklewright (eds.), Inequality and Poverty Re-examined, Oxford, Oxford University Press, TD No. 623 (April 2007).
- M. PAIELLA, *The foregone gains of incomplete portfolios*, Review of Financial Studies, Vol. 20, 5, pp. 1623-1646, **TD No. 625 (April 2007).**
- K. BEHRENS, A. R. LAMORGESE, G.I.P. OTTAVIANO and T. TABUCHI, *Changes in transport and non transport costs: local vs. global impacts in a spatial network*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, Vol. 37, 6, pp. 625-648, **TD No. 628** (April 2007).
- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Optimal monetary policy under low trend inflation*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 54, 8, pp. 2568-2583, **TD No. 647** (November 2007).
- R. GIORDANO, S. MOMIGLIANO, S. NERI and R. PEROTTI, *The Effects of Fiscal Policy in Italy: Evidence from a VAR Model*, European Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 23, 3, pp. 707-733, **TD No. 656** (December 2007).
- G. BARBIERI, P. CIPOLLONE and P. SESTITO, Labour market for teachers: demographic characteristics and allocative mechanisms, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 66, 3, pp. 335-373, TD No. 672 (June 2008).

E. BREDA, R. CAPPARIELLO and R. ZIZZA, Vertical specialisation in Europe: evidence from the import content of exports, Rivista di politica economica, numero monografico, TD No. 682 (August 2008).

```
2008
```

- P. ANGELINI, *Liquidity and announcement effects in the euro area*, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 67, 1, pp. 1-20, **TD No. 451 (October 2002).**
- F. SCHIVARDI and R. TORRINI, *Identifying the effects of firing restrictions through size-contingent Differences in regulation*, Labour Economics, v. 15, 3, pp. 482-511, **TD No. 504 (June 2004)**.
- C. BIANCOTTI, G. D'ALESSIO and A. NERI, Measurement errors in the Bank of Italy's survey of household income and wealth, Review of Income and Wealth, v. 54, 3, pp. 466-493, TD No. 520 (October 2004).
- S. MOMIGLIANO, J. HENRY and P. HERNÁNDEZ DE COS, The impact of government budget on prices: Evidence from macroeconometric models, Journal of Policy Modelling, v. 30, 1, pp. 123-143 TD No. 523 (October 2004).
- L. GAMBACORTA, *How do banks set interest rates?*, European Economic Review, v. 52, 5, pp. 792-819, **TD No. 542 (February 2005)**.
- P. ANGELINI and A. GENERALE, *On the evolution of firm size distributions*, American Economic Review, v. 98, 1, pp. 426-438, **TD No. 549 (June 2005).**
- S. DI ADDARIO and E. PATACCHINI, *Wages and the city. Evidence from Italy*, Labour Economics, v.15, 5, pp. 1040-1061, **TD No. 570 (January 2006)**.
- S. FEDERICO and G. A. MINERVA, *Outward FDI and local employment growth in Italy*, Review of World Economics, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 144, 2, pp. 295-324, **TD No. 613 (February 2007).**
- F. BUSETTI and A. HARVEY, *Testing for trend*, Econometric Theory, v. 24, 1, pp. 72-87, **TD No. 614** (February 2007).
- V. CESTARI, P. DEL GIOVANE and C. ROSSI-ARNAUD, *Memory for Prices and the Euro Cash Changeover: An Analysis for Cinema Prices in Italy*, In P. Del Giovane e R. Sabbatini (eds.), The Euro Inflation and Consumers' Perceptions. Lessons from Italy, Berlin-Heidelberg, Springer, **TD No. 619 (February 2007)**.
- J. SOUSA and A. ZAGHINI, *Monetary Policy Shocks in the Euro Area and Global Liquidity Spillovers*, International Journal of Finance and Economics, v.13, 3, pp. 205-218, **TD No. 629 (June 2007)**.
- M. DEL GATTO, GIANMARCO I. P. OTTAVIANO and M. PAGNINI, Openness to trade and industry cost dispersion: Evidence from a panel of Italian firms, Journal of Regional Science, v. 48, 1, pp. 97-129, TD No. 635 (June 2007).
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "inflation perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, in P. Del Giovane e R. Sabbatini (eds.), The Euro Inflation and Consumers' Perceptions. Lessons from Italy, Berlin-Heidelberg, Springer, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- B. BORTOLOTTI, and P. PINOTTI, *Delayed privatization*, Public Choice, v. 136, 3-4, pp. 331-351, **TD No.** 663 (April 2008).
- R. BONCI and F. COLUMBA, *Monetary policy effects: New evidence from the Italian flow of funds*, Applied Economics, v. 40, 21, pp. 2803-2818, **TD No. 678 (June 2008)**.
- M. CUCCULELLI, and G. MICUCCI, *Family Succession and firm performance: evidence from Italian family firms*, Journal of Corporate Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 17-31, **TD No. 680 (June 2008)**.

FORTHCOMING

- P. ANGELINI, P. DEL GIOVANE, S. SIVIERO and D. TERLIZZESE, Monetary policy in a monetary union: What role for regional information?, International Journal of Central Banking, TD No. 457 (December 2002).
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, **TD No. 458 (December 2002)**.
- L. GUISO and M. PAIELLA,, *Risk aversion, wealth and background risk*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 483 (September 2003)**.

- R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Distance, bank heterogeneity and entry in local banking markets*, The Journal of Industrial Economics, **TD No. 557 (June 2005).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD** No. 578 (February 2006).
- M. PERICOLI and M. TABOGA, *Canonical term-structure models with observable factors and the dynamics of bond risk premia*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, **TD No. 580 (February 2006).**
- E. VIVIANO, Entry regulations and labour market outcomes. Evidence from the Italian retail trade sector, Labour Economics, **TD No. 594 (May 2006)**.
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *Determinants of long-run regional productivity with geographical spillovers: the role of R&D, human capital and public infrastructure,* Regional Science and Urban Economics, **TD No. 597 (September 2006).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and the business cycle*, Journal of Financial Stability, **TD No. 601 (September 2006).**
- M. BUGAMELLI, Prezzi delle esportazioni, qualità dei prodotti e caratteristiche di impresa: analisi su un campione di imprese italiane, Economia e Politica Industriale, **TD No. 634 (June 2007)**.
- A. CIARLONE, P. PISELLI and G. TREBESCHI, *Emerging Markets' Spreads and Global Financial Conditions*, Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions & Money, **TD No. 637 (June 2007).**
- S. MAGRI, *The financing of small innovative firms: The Italian case*, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, **TD No. 640 (September 2007)**.
- L. FORNI, L. MONTEFORTE and L. SESSA, *The general equilibrium effects of fiscal policy: Estimates for the euro area,* Journal of Public Economics, **TD No. 652** (November 2007).
- L. ARCIERO, C. BIANCOTTI, L. D'AURIZIO and C. IMPENNA, *Exploring agent-based methods for the analysis* of payment systems: A crisis model for StarLogo TNG, Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation, **TD No. 686 (August 2008)**.